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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS
CORPUS CHRISTI DIVISION

Liana Davis,
Plaintiff,

V. Case No. 2:25-cv-220

Christopher Cooprider; Aid Access
GmbH; Rebecca Gomperts,

Defendants.

COMPLAINT

Christopher Cooprider murdered Liana Davis’s unborn child by secretly dissolv-
ing abortion pills into a hot beverage that he had prepared and tricking Davis into
drinking it. Cooprider obtained these drugs from Aid Access, a criminal organization
that illegally ships abortion pills into Texas and other jurisdictions where abortion has
been outlawed. Ms. Davis sues to recover damages from Cooprider and Aid Access
for the wrongful death of her unborn child. See Tex. Civ. Prac. & Rem. Code § 71.001
et seq.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

1. The Court has subject-matter jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. § 1332, as the
parties are completely diverse and the amount in controversy exceeds $75,000.00.

2. The Court has personal jurisdiction over defendant Cooprider because he
murdered Ms. Davis’s unborn child in Texas, and the plaintiff’s claims arise out of
those minimum contacts with the forum state. The Court has personal jurisdiction
over Aid Access and Rebecca Gomperts because they purposefully and knowingly
mailed abortion-inducing drugs into Texas in violation of state and federal law, and

the plaintift’s claims arise out of those minimum contacts with the forum state.
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3. Venue is proper in this district and division because a substantial part of the
events giving rise to the claims occurred in Nueces County. See 28 US.C.
§ 1391(b)(2).

PARTIES

4. Plaintiff Liana Davis is a citizen of Texas.

5. Defendant Christopher Cooprider is a citizen of Arizona.

6. Defendant Aid Access is a Gesellshaft mit beshrinkter Haftung (GmbH)
incorporated under the laws of Austria. Its principal place of business is in Austria.

7.  Defendant Rebecca Gomperts is a citizen of the Netherlands. She is the
founder and director of Aid Access.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

8.  Defendant Christopher Cooprider is a Marine pilot in training who is tem-
porarily stationed in Corpus Christi. Cooprider remains a domiciliary and citizen of
Arizona. See Exhibit 1.

9. Cooprider resides next door to plaintift Liana Davis in Corpus Christi.

10. In early 2025, Ms. Davis became pregnant with Cooprider’s child.

11. Ms. Davis learned that the baby would be a girl and named her Joy. She
looked forward to giving birth and raising her daughter alongside her three children
from a previous marriage.

12. Cooprider had different plans. He wanted the baby dead—and he made
that clear to Ms. Davis in no uncertain terms. This became a daily source of contention
between Cooprider and Davis, as Cooprider would constantly pressure Davis to kill
their unborn child, while Davis consistently rebuffed his requests and made clear that

she intended to give birth.
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13. Cooprider told Davis that he wanted to kill her unborn child even before
Davis had taken a test to confirm her pregnancy. On January 31, 2025, Davis and

Cooprider exchanged the following text messages:

Now to answer ur g, what
would u want to do? I'd want to  [REXLY
u to have input

7:49PM

Jesus. | thought you were "
conservative.

So you're one of those
“conservative til it happens to [EEESIEY
your own mistress” guys

We are not in love. We are not

together. Would be messed

up to bring a child into the 9:18PM
world without both parents

raising them

Can't imagine not knowing my

father, or being raised by him PRI

See Exhibit 2.
14. On February 3, 2025, Cooprider expressed similar sentiments over text

messages, again before Davis had taken any test to confirm the pregnancy:

If it's positive then we need to
schedule a clinic visit and get 2:20PM
an abortion pill asap

Excuse me? 2:20PM
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See Exhibit 3.

| don't know where or when

you think that is happening.

The nearest clinic last time |

checked (and only checked bc

| was teaching a sex ed unit in 2:23PM
a health class) is San Antonio,

and that was years ago. Clinics
have been getting shut down
left right and center.

But way more importantly,
that's not your decision to 2:24PM
make alone.

You don't want either do you? 2:24PM

Because it jeopordizes all your

= 2:25PM
current battles and issues

Page 4 of 33

15. When Cooprider learned of the positive pregnancy test on February 4,

2025, he reiterated his desire for an abortion, but Ms. Davis rebuked him:

COMPLAINT

2:40PM

"You're repeating yourself” JEcHZILY

The right thing to do in your
opinion. Some would view it as 3:05PM
taking an innocent life.

Moving forward, can you
PLEASE A re-phrase? Every
time you say “get rid of it" it's
like an electric shock.

3:06PM

| literally feel like I'm going
down the steepest hill on a 3:07PM
roller coaster when | read that.
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See Exhibit 4.

16. On February 5, 2025, the day after the positive pregnancy test, Cooprider

texted Davis and announced that he was going to order abortion drugs for her to

take. Ms. Davis was appalled and told him not to do it:

See Exhibit 5.

Wed, Feb 5 at 10:48 AM

I'm going to be able to get the

2 drugs needed to discontinue
pregnancy. Should be ableto 1054w
use them 2 weeks from today

-

Stop right there. [RISERY

I'll let you know after i get

them and have them [aea

Let me get up to my office to

5 A 10:48 AM
discuss this.

Don't buy anything [RESEY

They can be safely taken at
home and without medical
supervision. And without
record

10:51 AM

Slow your roll R

It's a safe and reliable 24-48
hour process. With minor
setbacks like stomach pain,
cramps, nhausea, bleeding

10:52 AM

17. Cooprider ignored Ms. Davis’s objections and ordered the drugs anyway.

On February 6, 2025, at 3:38 r.M., Cooprider texted Ms. Davis and said:

COMPLAINT
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Thu, Feb 6 at 3:38 PM

Hey good news! 3:38PM

~ Found an American website to
get plan C pills from. Those
FDA approved pills are on their
way here -

3:40PM

See Exhibit 6.
18. Ms. Davis reprimanded Cooprider for purchasing those drugs without her

consent and against her explicit instructions. She texted:

Well YEAH I'm not ok with u
buying something like that w/o
my permission. It's not a
benign purchase.

11:01PM

It's not like buying toothpaste.
It's *double-checks notes* 11:02PM
ABORTION PILLS.

It's so presumptuous.

19. On February 11, 2025, at 7:52 A.M. central time, Cooprider texted Davis

See Exhibit 7.

to inform her that the abortion drugs had arrived. Ms. Davis responded to his text

with a thumbs-down emoji:

The pills just got here 7:52 AM

See Exhibit 8.

20. Cooprider showed Davis the receipt for his purchase on his cell phone.
When Ms. Davis looked at the receipt on Cooprider’s phone, she saw that he had
purchased the drugs from Aid Access. Aid Access is listed on the “plan C” website
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that Cooprider mentioned in his earlier text as one of its “US-Based Online Clinics”
that sends abortion-inducing drugs into Texas. See https://www.plancpills.org/
abortion-pill /texas#ways-people-get-pills  [https://perma.cc/76XM-KZU2]. The
Plan C website lists the price for pills obtained through Aid Access as “$150 or less,”
and promises delivery to Texas for pills ordered from Aid Access in “2-5 days.” Id.
Cooprider ordered the pills on Thursday, February 6, 2025, and they arrived on Tues-
day, February 11, 2025 —exactly five days later, and within the 2-5 day delivery win-
dow described on the Plan C pills website.

21. On February 18, 2025, Cooprider brought the abortion pills to Davis’s
house and asked her to kill the baby with the drugs that he had purchased. Davis
refused and made clear to Cooprider that she had no intention of aborting. But
Cooprider was undeterred, and he repeatedly brought the drugs to Davis’s house
when he came to visit. Sometimes Cooprider would leave the drugs behind at her
house after he left, in the apparent hope that Davis might change her mind and ingest
the pills on her own initiative. Other times Cooprider would take the drugs with him
when he returned to his house. And sometimes Cooprider split the difference, leaving
the mifepristone with Davis while taking the misoprostol pills with him.! All of this
disturbed Ms. Davis, who disliked having Cooprider’s abortion pills in her home.

22. Ms. Davis took pictures of the abortion drugs that Cooprider had purchased
from Aid Access. The box containing the mifepristone contains a label indicating that
the drugs were prescribed to “Chris Cooprider” by someone described as “L.M.

MD?”:

1. The abortion-pill regimen requires a pregnant woman to ingest two pills approx-
imately 24—48 hours apart. Mifepristone (or mifeprex) is the first of the two drugs
that must be taken, which blocks the hormone progesterone. Misoprostol is the
second drug taken 24—48 hours after the mifepristone, which expels the unborn
child from the uterus.
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See Exhibits 9 and 10.
23. The bottle containing the misoprostol also contains a label indicating that

the drugs were prescribed to “Chris Cooprider” by the same “L.M. MD”:

See Exhibits 11-12. There were 12 misoprostol pills included in this bottle.

24. For over a month Cooprider tried to browbeat Ms. Davis into killing her
unborn child with the abortion pills that he had obtained, but his efforts went no-
where. On February 18, 2025, at 9:07 A.M., Cooprider texted Davis in one of his
early attempts to persuade her to ingest the “M&M’s” (Cooprider’s shorthand for

mifepristone and misoprostol):
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See Exhibit 13.

9:07 AM

That one sentence will help
you build mental armor that 9:09 AM
will help protect you

Page 9 of 33

25. The next day, on February 19, 2025, Cooprider and Davis exchanged text

messages in which Cooprider repeated his desire for an abortion, while Davis rebuked

him for his selfish attitude:

COMPLAINT

Tell me how having the
pregnancy would help improve 10:40PM
my life?

Once again (let me get my | SYS-.
claps ready)...

Zero pros for me; Only cons 10:40 PM

It's Not. S About.

Improving. S Your. 8§ Life. [RIGZIZY

Having children with my
partner will absolutely improve 10:41PM
my life someday

It's a hand you were dealt, and

this little person did nothing to

harm you, they are not

dangerous, they are not some  JRIEFIY
infectious agent that you have

to stay far away from. That's

what you're acting like.
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See Exhibit 14.

26. On March 5, 2025, Davis pleaded with Cooprider to accompany her to an
ultrasound appointment that she had scheduled for March 21, 2025. (Davis wanted
Cooprider to attend the appointment because she held out hope that seeing the so-
nogram images of the baby might change his mind.) Cooprider said he would come

only if Davis promised to abort her unborn child:

Please come with me bc you
said you would and | have held
up my end of the deal on

EVERYTHING so far. e
Everything Chris. Please don't
bail on me.
Text Message - RCS
| will come with, but only if you
agree that under NO .

circumstances is that potential
child to be born

If ultrasound says it is
somehow alive. Then it needs 11:57 AM
to be aborted

See Exhibit 15.

27. A few minutes later, Cooprider repeated his demands for an abortion before

agreeing to accompany Davis to the ultrasound appointment:

If it's confirmed alive, then it

needs to be aborted A
Without fail 11:59 AM
That is best for everyone 11:59 AM
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| know your stance on that.
Please tell me you'll come with
me or I'm canceling this

altogether bc | made it with the

understanding that you were
coming with me.

Text Message » RCS

What do you plan to do if it's
alive

Text Message « SMS

| already told you. Take a beat
to regroup and process. Then
go from there.

See Exhibit 16.

12:00PM

12:01PM

12:01PM

28. A few minutes later, after he had agreed to attend the ultrasound appoint-

ment, Cooprider again demanded an abortion without regard to Davis’s wishes:

Yes or no are you coming? If
not I'm calling and canceling.
And they might give that time

to someone else, which would
push us to the next week if |
wanted to reschedule.

Text Message « RCS
I'll go

Text Message - SMS

12:02PM

12:03PM

ﬂ 12:03PM

Text Message « RCS

But it needs to be aborted and
gone, no matter what

COMPLAINT

12:03PM
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See Exhibit 17.
29. The next day, on March 6, 2025, at 8:50 p.M., Cooprider called the baby a

“thing” and claimed that its birth would be “a failure on multiple levels”:

You've told me 1000 times you
are trying to stress me out so 8:50PM
that | lose the baby

It's sick. 8:50PM

| can't wait to hold that
gorgeous baby though, if it's [EEEIUY
alive.

Text Message - RCS

If that thing ever gets born, it
would be a failure on multiple 8:52PM
levels

and set up for failure since

before it's birth o

Text Message » SMS
It would be beautiful and loved SEIOM
and looked after.

30. The ultrasound appointment of March 21, 2025, and the sonogram pictures

See Exhibit 18.

did nothing to change Cooprider’s mind, and he only doubled down on his insistence
that the baby be killed. On March 26, 2025, at 12:46 p.M., Cooprider texted that he

wanted to “abort this monstrosity”:

You already know that is NOT
true because i only want to
abort this monstrosity of a
situation

12:46PM
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See Exhibit 19.
31. Later that day, after Davis rebuked Cooprider for calling the baby a “mis-

take,” Cooprider complained that he was “trapped” by Davis’s unwillingness to abort:

| have never called the baby a

mistake. It's a terrible thing to  JEREILY
call a human life.

Text Message + RCS

Cool blame that on me then. It

is 100% a mistake PR

Text Message « SMS

| don't like that Chris. EEEIIEY

Text Message » RCS

| don't like this situation, yet
here i am trapped in it every 1:10PM
day

Text Message - SMS

Babies aren't mistakes. They —
shouldn't be called that. '

Text Message « RCS

Called it whatever you want. |

: 2 5 1:13PM
will call it whatever i want

See Exhibit 20.
32. More texts were exchanged on March 26, 2025, in which Cooprider con-

tinued to harangue Davis for refusing to abort:
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Realistically?!?!? 2:10PM

Realistically alllll our problems

2:10PM
could be gone tomorrow!!
It is just that simple 2:10PM

But you are going to do
whatever you wanna do 2:11PM
despite statistics and facts

So go on ahead 2:11PM

Text Message - SMS

I'm not doing anything wrong. EERRILY

Just waiting to hear how baby

. - . 2:11PM
is doing in there.

People are more than statistics

2:12PM
and facts.

They are complex creatures

and have feelings. SR

I'm not some robot. EFARY

See Exhibit 21.

33. On March 28,2025, Ms. Davis sent Cooprider a series of text messages that
gently encouraged him to reconsider his desire for an abortion. See Exhibit 22. But
Cooprider would have none of it:

You can keep trying hoping I'll

change my mind. But it will 10:16 PM
absolutely not happen

See Exhibit 22.
34. Davis tried again on March 28,2025, asking to Cooprider regard their baby

as a blessing rather than a parasite. But Cooprider was rude and dismissive:
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A pregnancy happened. It
wasn't planned or expected.
Since there's nothing | can do
about it other than abort (and |
don't like the idea of that), I'm
almost at the point where I'm
trying to look at this as a
blessing or a gift.

10:40PM

Because that's what babies

are. Just because I'm not

married to the father and the

pregnancy was accidental, 10:42PM
doesn’t mean that this baby

would be any less of a blessing

or a gift.

They are a beautiful thing. | do

not understand my higher

power’s plan for me (haven't

for almost a year now), but if 10:44PM
this is their plan, then I'm

prepared to take on the

responsibility.

This is 100% a fucked up and
messed up situation. You can 10:44PM
spin it any way you want

See Exhibit 23.
35. A few minutes later, Cooprider called Davis “delusional” for describing her

pregnancy this way:

The fact that you can't see
how bad and messed up this 10:47 PM
is, that's completely delusional

See Exhibit 24.

36. Davis tried again but was met with yet another derisive response:
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How is it that bad? | have a
safe and loving home for this
baby to live in. We have
everything they need. | am
capable of raising a baby. |
have support.

10:48PM

They would be loved and

adored and spoiled. This baby

would never be put down!

There is nothing wrong with 10:50PM
thinking of a sweet, beautiful

new baby and choosing to be

positive about it.

Ya whatever lady 10:52PM

It would be soo gorgeous. As
unhappy as | am about being

pregnant, I'm allowed to look [RleEFAdY
forward to having another
baby with enjoyment.

It doesn’t make me a bad [N
person.

Page 16 of 33

37. On March 31, 2025, Cooprider texted Davis and made yet another attempt

to convince her to abort, this time claiming that the baby would be better off dead

and that giving birth would harm Ms. Davis and her other three children:

COMPLAINT

Look I'm going to tell you some

hard truths that your hormonal  10:27pM

brain is not going to like

I've already heard plenty of :
hard truths. i
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o
?on t insult me, Elease. TCESBEN
Hormonal brain

Choosing to have that thing
WILL mess with your life. It will
take away and mess with your
3 current kids. Choosing to

have it WILL mess up it's life. It R
would be bad for you, your

current kids, and that poor

thing

It would be better off not being SBiEGER

around

What do you mean it will “take

away" my 3 current kids? 10:30PM
Watch your mouth.

My children aren't going | SRNEG_—_—G
anywhere.

38. Later that day, Cooprider made yet another pitch for an abortion, this time

See Exhibit 26.

by trying to convince Davis that killing her baby would be the “right” thing to do.
Once again, Davis refused to go along, insisting that she loved her baby and reiterat-

ing her determination to give birth:

You gave me a beautiful gift. |
suppose | should be thanking RIZEEZY

you.

Do things the right way Liana,

and with the right person. You

know deep down inside you, 10:43PM
that this is wrong. This is not a

good thing

| know that you already know

that inside of you {1
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See Exhibit 27.

Loving this baby feels right. |
want it to stay alive. | want to

snuggle it and sniff its tiny 10:47 PM
head and never ever put it

-

down. &

Do things the right way. You ——
know this is Not right '
Who are we to say this isn't
right? We were given this
incredible gift, and what feels [RIHSIIY

right is to surround it with all
the love in the world.

Page 18 of 33

39. Cooprider became abusive and menacing toward Davis when she would not

give in to his demands to abort. On March 6, 2025, Cooprider texted the following;:

COMPLAINT

Everything around you,

everything you touch gets

made worst. Your poor family 9:58 PM
got driven apart because of

your psycho mentality

Text Message » SMS

Please stop texting me JEER:ILY

| would like you to stop your | RESEE—_—-.
harassment. -

Text Message « RCS

If i had to deal with your

craziness every day like your

husband, that would drive me 9:58 PM
mad too. You probably drove

him crazy
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Drove your husband mad and

. 10:00PM
messed up your own family

Text Message - SMS

Harassment. | am once again

warning you to stop texting 10:00PM
me, please.

Text Message « RCS

Now you live in a dead husk of
the family life you tried to 10:00PM
create but ruined

You can't even take the photos

down of your failed family. So

you have to be reminded of it 10:01PM
every time you walk through a

hallway

See Exhibits 28-29.

40. Cooprider even threatened to testify against Ms. Davis in her ongoing and
bitterly contested divorce proceeding, in which she was battling her abusive and soon-
to-be-ex-husband for custody of her three children:

Maybe Devin Paul Davis and i

. 10:03PM
can become friends

Wonder if i could help him in
his legal proceedings with his 10:04PM
crazy ex

See Exhibit 30. Devin Paul Davis is the name of Liana Davis’s soon-to-be-ex-husband.
Davis had confided in Cooprider on a number of occasions that she was terrified of
Devin and told Cooprider the ways in which Devin had physically and emotionally
abused her and her children. Cooprider also knew that Ms. Davis and her children

were clients at a local domestic-violence agency because of Devin’s history of abuse.
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41. Finally, on April 1, 2025, Cooprider texted Davis and called her “the worst

person” for refusing to accommodate his demands for an abortion:

You are the worst person

Don't care about me or my
perspective

Or how it's going to affect
others

Just gonna do what you
already picture happening in 11:53 AM
your head

See Exhibit 31.

I. Cooprider Plots To Murder Ms. Davis’s Unborn Child By
Slipping Abortion Pills Into Her Drink

42. By April of 2025, Cooprider had come to the realization that Ms. Davis was
determined to give birth and would not budge in response to his badgering and bul-
lying tactics. Cooprider also knew that he was running out of time for Davis to abort
with the drugs that he had purchased. The FDA has approved the use of mifepristone
and misoprostol for abortions through only the first 10 weeks of pregnancy, as meas-
ured from the pregnant woman’s last menstrual period. Ms. Davis was by now eight
weeks pregnant, and Cooprider knew that he had no chance of persuading Davis to
travel out of state for a surgical abortion if the pregnancy lasted beyond the available

time for a drug-induced abortion.
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43. Cooprider’s only hope for an abortion was to trick Davis into ingesting the
drugs that he had purchased from Aid Access. So Cooprider decided to murder the
baby by mixing the abortion pills into a drink and giving it to Davis. He planned the
murder and carried out his plot on the night of April 5, 2025.

44. On April 2, 2025, at 12:15 p.M., Cooprider texted Davis and proposed to
have a “trust building night” where he would “make us some warm relaxing tea”:

Was thinking we could hang
out one of these night I'm not

scheduled and catch up on
Reacher

| could make us some warm
relaxing tea instead of alcohol

And we could go to bed at a
reasonable hour

Called it a "trust building
night" if you have to.....

See Exhibit 32.

45. Cooprider billed this “trust building night” as an opportunity to repair the
damage caused by his reaction to the pregnancy and his demands for an abortion.
This led Davis to believe that Cooprider was now resigned to her decision to give
birth to their daughter.

46. Davis agreed to Cooprider’s proposal for this trust-building night, as she
knew that she would have to co-parent with Cooprider for the next two decades and
viewed this as a last-ditch opportunity to get on reasonable terms with the father of
her daughter. She also understood that Cooprider might abandon their daughter en-
tirely given his unhappiness with the pregnancy and his military responsibilities, which
were likely to place him in locations far from Corpus Christi. Ms. Davis thought that

the proposed “trust building night” could salvage something from a bad situation and
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increase the likelihood that her soon-to-be-born daughter would have at least some
semblance of a relationship with her biological father.

47. Cooprider came to Davis’s house on the night of April 5, 2025, for the
“trust building” session. Cooprider told Davis that he wanted to make her a hot drink,
and that hot drinks were helping him relax at night and improving his sleep, and that
he had brought his own hot chocolate from his apartment. Ms. Davis agreed to this
and allowed Cooprider to make hot chocolate for her.

48. While Cooprider was preparing the hot chocolate, Ms. Davis stepped out-
side to let her dog in. Unbeknownst to Ms. Davis, Cooprider was lacing her drink
with the abortion pills that he had obtained from Aid Access.

49. When Cooprider finished preparing the hot chocolate, they drank it to-
gether while watching TV. This is how Cooprider and Davis normally spent time to-

gether.

II. Davis Begins Hemorrhaging And Cramping Within 30 Minutes
After Drinking The Contaminated Hot Chocolate

50. Shortly before midnight, and within 30 minutes of consuming the tainted
drink, Ms. Davis began hemorrhaging and cramping.

51. Davis immediately sought help from Cooprider. Cooprider said that he
would get Davis’s mother and drive her to Davis’s house so that she could stay with
Ms. Davis’s three children (who were sleeping upstairs) while they went to the emer-
gency room. Cooprider also promised to drive Ms. Davis to the emergency room after
bringing her mother to her house.

52. Ms. Davis’s mother was 77 years old at the time, disabled, and unable to
drive, so she could not drive herself to Davis’s house, nor could she drive Davis to the
emergency room. Cooprider knew all of this.

53. Ms. Davis’s mother lives only 10 minutes away from Ms. Davis. Exhibits 33

and 34 contain Google maps showing the estimated driving time from Ms. Davis’s
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house to her mother’s house. Exhibit 33 shows that it would take 7-10 minutes for
someone to drive from Ms. Davis’s house to her mother’s house at 12:00 A.M. on
April 6, 2025. Exhibit 34 shows that it would take 8—10 minutes to return to Ms.
Davis’s house from Ms. Davis’s mother’s house at 12:00 A.M. on April 6, 20252

54. At 12:10 A.M. on April 6, 2025, Davis called her mother to tell her that
Cooprider was coming to pick her up. See Exhibit 35. The call lasted for two minutes.
See id.

55. After ending this call, Davis texted her mom’s address to Cooprider at 12:12
A.M. Cooprider left the house immediately thereafter, on the pretense that he would
pick up Davis’s mother and return to take Ms. Davis to the emergency room. See

Exhibit 36.3

III. Cooprider Abandons Davis And Disappears After Promising To
Pick Up Her Mother And Drive Ms. Davis To The Emergency
Room

56. After Cooprider left Ms. Davis’s house at 12:12 A.M., he vamoosed and
stopped answering his phone or texts, leaving Davis to fend for herself. He never
picked up Ms. Davis’s mom, who stood waiting for him outside her condominium.
And he never returned to Ms. Davis’s house.

57. At 12:21 A.M., Ms. Davis began calling Cooprider in a desperate attempt
to find out where he was and when he might pick up her mother. But Davis’s calls
went unanswered. She called Cooprider at 12:21 A.M., at 12:22 A.M., at 12:26 A.M.,
at 12:39 A.M., and at 12:45 A.M. Cooprider refused to answer or return any of these

calls. See Exhibits 37—41.

2. The addresses have been redacted from the exhibits.

3. The address of Ms. Davis’s mother is redacted from the string of texts that appears
in Exhibit 36, but it was sent to Cooprider in the redacted text message next to
the 12:12 A.M. timestamp.
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58. Davis also sent a barrage of increasingly desperate text messages to

Cooprider when he failed to arrive at her mother’s house by 12:22 A.m.:

Sun, Apr 6 at 12:12 AM

CHRIS ANSWER THE I
PHONE!! e

I'm calling you! [V
oL 12:26 AM
Do you have my mom? |[ka¥ary

She is waiting outside. It is

. i 12:31 AM
Foxfire Condominiums.

You have to turn right into
them and go all the way to the |[kEcrIAY
back.

| am gushing blood. Please
hurry.

12:34 AM

See Exhibit 36.*

59. When Cooprider did not respond to these phone calls or texts, Ms. Davis
sent her mother $50.00 through PayPal to pay for an Uber ride to her house. Ms.
Davis’s mom ordered an Uber, which picked her up at 12:49 A.M. and dropped her
off at Ms. Davis’s house at 12:58 A.Mm. The receipt for this Uber ride is attached as

Exhibit 41.

4. The redacted text message sent at 12:12 A.M. is the address for Ms. Davis’s mom,
which Davis texted to Cooprider as he left her house for the ostensible purpose of
picking up her mother, who lived only 10 minutes away. When Cooprider failed
to arrive at her mother’s house within 10 minutes of leaving the house at 12:12
A.M., Ms. Davis began calling and texting him.
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60. At 12:44 A.Mm.—more than 30 minutes after he had left the house to pick
up Ms. Davis’s mother who lived only 10 minutes away— Cooprider finally texted

Ms. Davis and wrote:
I'm trying to find her.. 12:44 AM
Are you OK? 12:44 AM

See Exhibit 36.
61. Davis immediately texted back and instructed Cooprider to return to her

house and take her to the emergency room:

No! When | didn't hear from
you, | sent my mom money for
an Uber and she is getting in

12:45 AM
an Uber. Please turn around

and come back and get me.

Please.
mV{ga"A 12:45AM
| am soaking blood. RPEAFAY

Please call me NOW or I'm

12:46 AM

calling an ambulance.

My mom is in an Uber on her

way here. She no longer needs

aride. As we discussed, now | [EkEFINY
need you to take me to the

hospital.

Just wherever you are, please
turn around and come to me at
the house. You don't need to
do anything else. Stop looking
for my mom if that's what
you're doing.

12:53AM
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Chris, this is very odd that you
know | am having an
emergency and you are not
reachable and taking a long

. s 12:54 AM
time to answer. This is what we

have talked about for the
longest time and how this is
my time of need.

See Exhibits 42—43.
62. Five minutes later, Cooprider texted back and curtly told Ms. Davis that he
would not return or help her:

I'm sorry, i have to go to my

flight tomorrow e

See Exhibit 43.
63. Ms. Davis was incredulous at this response, as Cooprider was not at home
(he lived next door to Ms. Davis). Davis asked Cooprider to reveal his whereabouts
and explain what he had been doing since he left Ms. Davis’s house at 12:12 A.M.:
Where did you go? You aren't

home. Did you even go out to 1:01 AM
find my mom?

See Exhibit 43. Cooprider never responded to or answered this text message.

64. By now Davis realized that Cooprider had poisoned her (and her baby) with
the abortion pills that he had bought, and that he had abandoned her and lied to
delay Davis from obtaining medical care that might save her unborn daughter.

65. Davis was desperate to find a ride to the hospital, as her mother is unable to
drive and Cooprider, who had promised to return to her house and drive her to the
emergency room, had deserted her. So Davis hobbled to a neighbor’s house and

banged on her door to ask for a ride to the emergency room. The neighbor graciously
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agreed to give Ms. Davis a ride to the emergency room at the Corpus Christi Medical
Center Bay Area.

66. When Ms. Davis left the house to seek help from her neighbor, she noticed
asilver truck idling outside across the street and a few houses down that looked similar
to the Toyota Tacoma silver truck owned by Cooprider. The truck quickly drove off
when Davis stepped outside, in a direction away from Davis and her house. Ms. Davis
also noticed that Cooprider’s silver truck was not parked in his driveway next door.

67. At 1:24 a.m., Ms. Davis arrived at the emergency room and texted

Cooprider to let him know:

| am at the hospital in the ER. | 1:24AM

See Exhibit 43. Cooprider did not acknowledge or respond to this text message.
68. When Ms. Davis arrived at the Bay Area hospital emergency room, the doc-
tors were unable to save her baby. Baby Joy died at eight weeks LMP, murdered by

her own father.

IV. Cooprider Leaves Behind Evidence Of The Murder At Ms.
Davis’s House

69. After Cooprider had left the house at 12:12 A.M., but before Ms. Davis left
her house for the emergency room, Ms. Davis discovered the box of mifepristone that
Cooprider had purchased from Aid Access, which still had the label with Cooprider’s
name on it. The box was opened and the mifepristone pill was missing from its blister
pack.

70. Ms. Davis also discovered an orange pill bottle with the label peeled oft
containing one mifepristone pill and two of the 12 misoprostol pills that Cooprider
had purchased from Aid Access. The orange pill bottle was slightly larger than the
misoprostol bottle that Cooprider had obtained from Aid Access. For some reason

Cooprider had put the mifepristone and misoprostol pills into this larger bottle, either
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to consolidate or disguise the drugs. Cooprider mixed the remaining 10 misoprostol
pills into the hot chocolate that he had prepared for Ms. Davis that night.

71. Ms. Davis brought this evidence with her to the emergency room and
turned it over to the Corpus Christi police.

CLAIM FOR RELIEF — WRONGFUL DEATH

72. The wrongful-death statute allows surviving parents to sue those who cause
the death of an unborn child by a wrongful act, neglect, carelessness, unskillfulness,
or default. See Tex. Civ. Prac. & Rem. Code § 71.002(b) (“A person is liable for dam-
ages arising from an injury that causes an individual’s death if the injury was caused
by the person’s or his agent’s or servant’s wrongful act, neglect, carelessness, unskill-
fulness, or default.”); Tex. Civ. Prac. & Rem. Code § 71.001(4) (“‘Individual’ in-
cludes an unborn child at every stage of gestation from fertilization until birth.”).

73. Each of the defendants caused the death of Ms. Davis’s unborn child through
their wrongful acts, which violated the law in each the following respects:

74. Section 171.063(a)(1) of the Texas Health and Safety Code prohibits anyone
other than a Texas-licensed physician from providing abortion-inducing drugs to a
pregnant woman for the purpose of inducing an abortion. See Tex. Health & Safety
Code § 171.063(a) (“A person may not knowingly provide an abortion-inducing
drug to a pregnant woman for the purpose of inducing an abortion in the pregnant
woman or enabling another person to induce an abortion in the pregnant woman
unless: (1) the person who provides the abortion-inducing drug is a physician”). A
violation of section 171.063(a)(1) is a state jail felony. See Tex. Health & Safety Code
§ 171.065(a). Defendant Cooprider, as a non-physician, violated section
171.063(a)(1) by knowingly providing abortion-inducing drugs to Liana Davis for
the purpose of inducing the abortion of her unborn child. Defendants Aid Access and

Rebecca Gomperts are criminally responsible for Cooprider’s violations of section
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171.063(a)(1) because they knowingly aided Cooprider’s provision of abortion-in-
ducing drugs to a pregnant woman. See Tex. Penal Code § 7.02.

75. Section 171.063(a)(2) of the Texas Health and Safety Code prohibits indi-
viduals from providing abortion-inducing drugs to a pregnant woman for the purpose
of abortion unless they comply with the protocols in subchapter D of chapter 171 of
the Texas Health and Safety Code. See Tex. Health & Safety Code § 171.063(a) (“A
person may not knowingly provide an abortion-inducing drug to a pregnant woman
for the purpose of inducing an abortion in the pregnant woman or enabling another
person to induce an abortion in the pregnant woman unless: . . . (2) the provision of
the abortion-inducing drug satisfies the protocol authorized by this subchapter”). A
violation of section 171.063(a)(2) is a state jail felony. See Tex. Health & Safety Code
§ 171.065(a). Defendant Cooprider violated section 171.063(a)(2) by knowingly
providing abortion-inducing drugs to Liana Davis for the purpose of inducing an
abortion of Ms. Davis’s unborn child without complying with the required protocols.
Defendants Aid Access and Rebecca Gomperts violated section 171.063(a)(2) by
knowingly sending abortion-inducing drugs into Texas, which they knew would be
provided to a pregnant woman for the purpose of inducing an abortion. Defendants
Aid Access and Rebecca Gomperts are also criminally responsible for Cooprider’s vi-
olations of section 171.063(a)(2) because they knowingly aided his provision of abor-
tion-inducing drugs to a pregnant woman. See Tex. Penal Code § 7.02.

76. Section 171.0631 of the Texas Health and Safety Code prohibits any person
from providing abortion-inducing drugs to a pregnant woman without complying
with the informed-consent requirements of subchapter B of chapter 171 of the Texas
Health and Safety Code, which include a mandatory ultrasound. See Tex. Health &
Safety Code § 171.0631 (“A person may not provide an abortion-inducing drug to a
pregnant woman without satisfying the applicable informed consent requirements of

Subchapter B.”). A violation of section 171.0631 is a state jail felony. See Tex. Health
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& Safety Code § 171.065(a). Defendant Cooprider violated section 171.0631 by
providing abortion-inducing drugs to Liana Davis without complying with the man-
datory ultrasound and other statutory informed-consent requirements. Defendants
Aid Access and Rebecca Gomperts violated section 171.0631 by knowingly sending
abortion-inducing drugs into Texas, which they knew would be provided to a preg-
nant woman for the purpose of inducing an abortion. Defendants Aid Access and
Rebecca Gomperts are also criminally responsible for Cooprider’s violations of section
171.0631 because they knowingly aided his provision of abortion-inducing drugs to
a pregnant woman. See Tex. Penal Code § 7.02.

77. Section 171.003 of the Texas Health and Safety Code prohibits anyone other
than a Texas-licensed physician to perform abortions. See Tex. Health & Safety Code
§ 171.003 (“An abortion may be performed only by a physician licensed to practice
medicine in this state.”). Cooprider is not a Texas-licensed physician, and he per-
formed an abortion in violation of section 171.003 by lacing Ms. Davis’s drink with
abortion pills. Defendants Aid Access and Rebecca Gomperts also violated section
171.003 by knowingly aiding an illegal self-managed abortion in Texas. See Tex. Penal
Code § 7.02.

78. Section 171.011 of the Texas Health and Safety Code prohibits any person
from performing an abortion without complying with the informed-consent require-
ments of subchapter B of chapter 171 of the Texas Health and Safety Code, which
include a mandatory ultrasound. See Tex. Health & Safety Code § 171.011 (“A person
may not perform an abortion without the voluntary and informed consent of the
woman on whom the abortion is to be performed.”). Defendant Cooprider per-
formed an abortion in violation of section 171.011 because he did not conduct the
mandatory ultrasound or comply with the other statutory informed-consent require-
ments before spiking Ms. Davis’s drink with abortion pills. Defendants Aid Access and

Rebecca Gomperts also violated section 171.011 by aiding an illegal self-managed
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abortion in Texas that did not comply with the mandatory ultrasound and other stat-
utory informed-consent requirements.

79. Chapter 245 of the Texas Health and Safety Code requires abortions in Texas
to be performed in licensed abortion facilities (subject to exceptions not applicable
here). See Tex. Health & Safety Code § 245.002(2) (“‘Abortion facility’ means a place
where abortions are performed.”); zd. at § 245.003(a) (“Except as provided by Sec-
tion 245.004, a person may not establish or operate an abortion facility in this state
without an appropriate license issued under this chapter.”). Defendant Cooprider vi-
olated chapter 245 of the Texas Health and Safety Code by performing an abortion
that took place outside a licensed abortion facility. Defendants Aid Access and Rebecca
Gomperts also violated chapter 245 by aiding an illegal self-managed abortion in
Texas that took place outside a licensed abortion facility.

80. Federal law imposes criminal liability on any person who:

a. Knowingly uses the mails for the mailing, carriage, or delivery of
abortion-inducing drugs;

b. Knowingly uses any express company, common carrier, or interac-
tive computer service for carriage of abortion-inducing drugs in in-
terstate or foreign commerce; or

c. Knowingly takes or receives abortion-inducing drugs from an ex-
press company, a common carrier, or an interactive computer ser-
vice.

18 US.C. §§ 1461-1462. Detendants Cooprider, Aid Access, and Rebecca Gomperts
violated these federal criminal laws by using the mails, an express company, a common
carrier, or an interactive computer service to mail, carry or deliver abortion-inducing
drugs.

81. Articles 4512.1-4512.6 of the Texas Revised Civil Statutes make abortion a
felony criminal offense unless the life of the mother is endangered. Violations of arti-

cles 4512.1-4512.6 are punishable by two to five years imprisonment. Defendant
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Cooprider violated articles 4512.1-4512.6 by performing an abortion in Texas that
was not needed to save the life of the mother. Defendants Aid Access and Rebecca
Gomperts also violated articles 4512.1-4512.6 by aiding an abortion in Texas that
was not needed to save the life of the mother.

82. Section 170A.002 of the Texas Health and Safety Code also makes abortion
a felony criminal offense unless the abortion is performed to avert the risk of death or
a serious risk of substantial impairment of a major bodily function. See Tex. Health &
Safety Code § 170A.002. Violations of section 170A.002 are punishable by five to 99
years imprisonment. See Tex. Penal Code § 12.32. Defendant Cooprider violated sec-
tion 170A.002 by performing an abortion in Texas that was not needed to avert the
risk of death or a serious risk of substantial impairment of a major bodily function.
Defendants Aid Access and Rebecca Gomperts also violated section 170A.002 by aid-
ing an abortion in Texas that was not needed to avert the risk of death or a serious
risk of substantial impairment of a major bodily function.

83. Performing or assisting an illegal abortion in Texas is an act of murder. See
Texas Penal Code § 1.07; 7d. at § 19.02; 7d. at § 19.06 (murder statute). Defendants
Cooprider, Aid Access, and Rebecca Gomperts committed murder under section
19.02(b)(1) because they “intentionally and knowingly caused the death” of Ms. Da-
vis’s unborn child. See Tex. Penal Code § 19.02(b) (“A person commits an offense if
he: (1) intentionally or knowingly causes the death of an individual”). Defendants
Cooprider, Aid Access, and Rebecca Gomperts also committed murder under section
19.02(b)(2) because they “intended to cause serious bodily injury and committed an
act clearly dangerous to human life that caused the death” of Ms. Davis’s unborn
child. See Tex. Penal Code § 19.02(b) (“A person commits an offense if he: ... (2)
intends to cause serious bodily injury and commits an act clearly dangerous to human

life that causes the death of an individual”).
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84. Defendants Cooprider, Aid Access, and Rebecca Gomperts are also guilty of
felony murder. See Tex. Penal Code § 19.02(b)(3). Their shipment and delivery of
abortion pills was a felony. See Tex. Health & Safety Code § 171.063(a); Tex. Health
& Safety Code § 171.065(a); 18 U.S.C. §§ 1461-1462. And these felonious acts were
“clearly dangerous to human life” and “cause[d] the death of an individual.” Tex.
Penal Code § 19.02(b)(3); Texas Penal Code § 1.07 (“individual” includes “an un-
born child at every stage of gestation from fertilization until birth.”).

85. None of the exceptions in Texas’s wrongful-death statute shield the defend-
ants from liability. Sections 71.003(c)(2) and (c)(4) of the Texas Civil Practice and
Remedies Code are inapplicable because Cooprider was not performing a “lawful
medical procedure” or a “lawful medical or health care practice or procedure.” And
section 71.003(c)(3) is inapplicable because the abortion pills were not dispensed or

administered “in accordance with law.”

DEMAND FOR RELIEF
86. Ms. Davis requests that the court:

a. order the defendants to pay nominal, compensatory, and punitive dam-
ages for the wrongful death of Ms. Davis’s unborn child;

b. grant all other relief that the Court deems just, proper, or equitable.

Respectfully submitted.

s/ Jonathan F. Mitchell
JONATHAN F. MITCHELL
Texas Bar No. 24075463
S.D. Tex. Bar No. 1133287
Mitchell Law PLLC
111 Congress Avenue, Suite 400
Austin, Texas 78701
(512) 686-3940 (phone)

(512) 686-3941 (fax)
jonathan@mitchell.law

Dated: August 11, 2025 Counsel for Plaintiff
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Yes and sure 7:14PM

Now to answer ur g, what

would u want to do? I'd want to |EEEXY
u to have input

| would like to get rid of it, if
the test is positive

Jesus. | thought you were .
conservative. |

So you're one of those
“conservative til it happens to R
your own mistress” guys

7:49PM

We are not in love. We are not

together. Would be messed

up to bring a child into the 9:18PM
world without both parents

raising them

Can't imagine not knowing my
father, or being raised by him

If it even comes to that

+ Text Message « RCS \J

9:21PM
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Chris -

If it's positive then we need to
schedule a clinic visit and get 2:20PM
an abortion pill asap

Excuse me? 2:20PM

| don't know where or when

you think that is happening.

The nearest clinic last time |

checked (and only checked bc

| was teaching a sex ed unit in 2:23PM
a health class) is San Antonio,

and that was years ago. Clinics

have been getting shut down

left right and center.

But way more importantly,
that's not your decision to 2:24PM
make alone.

You don't want either do you? 2:24PM

Because it jeopordizes all your

. 2:25PM
current battles and issues

I'm done talking about this

topic through text. It's way too
serious and potentially life-

+ [ Text Message - RCS \
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ol
< cc,
Chris -

Tue, Feb 4 at 2:40PM

2:40PM

“You're repeating yourself” EeXagY

The right thing to do in your
opinion. Some would view it as IR
taking an innocent life.

Moving forward, can you
PLEASE M re-phrase? Every
time you say “get rid of it" it's
like an electric shock.

3:06PM

| literally feel like I'm going
down the steepest hill on a 3:07PM
roller coaster when | read that.

Both of our reactions to the
test were oh shitt, that's
terrible news. That's plenty
clear indication of how we felt
about it and what should be
done about it

+ | Text Message - RCS \

3:09PM
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Chris

Wed, Feb 5 at 10:48 AM

I'm going to be able to get the
2 drugs needed to discontinue
pregnancy. Should be able to 10:48 AM

use them 2 weeks from today
L

-E

Stop right there. [RIGZEENY

I'll let you know after i get

them and have them 1oas A

Let me get up to my office to

. . 10:48 AM
discuss this.

Don't buy anything [ReseaY

They can be safely taken at
home and without medical
supervision. And without
record

10:51 AM

S (o) VAY/elidife]|l 10:51AM

It's a safe and reliable 24-48
hour process. With minor

+ g

10:52 AM
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Chris

& sl R A o~ o~ P D rH s
[ext Message « RCS

L Fah & At 2:29 DA
(1 3 'y o~ D o b \
l | | U\. Jﬂ I | © j\_,.:{ E’\) (e | L site(eoN s i\ VI

Hey good news!

Found an American website to
get plan C pills from. Those
FDA approved pills are on their
way here -

2 DN/
) ) () | \ /
VI0OTr I

VI

™ -~ A
] ’{' f‘lr--J |". ..“/l
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Chris
without asking you

TU-OIrimwvi

Which for the record i forgot
that is important to you.

. el 11:00PM
Because in my mind its not a

big deal at all... vy v

Maybe it's just me, I'm 11:00 PM

different

What's important to me? [REEJIZY

Me buying things without your

.. 11:00PM
permission
Anyways, ineed to go to bed.
Have another long day 11:01PM

tomorrow

Well YEAH I'm not ok with u
buying something like that w/o
my permission. It's not a
benign purchase.

11:01PM

It's not like buying toothpaste.
It's *double-checks notes* 11:02PM
ABORTION PILLS.

It's so presumptuous.

+ Text Message - RCS \
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Chris -

The pills just got here 7:52 AM
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K4

NDC: 43393-001-01 \

Mifepristone Tablet

Rx only ""

| 1 Tablet QP
GenBioPro
i

. Dispense the enclosed Medication Guide to each patient.
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>

_ CHRIS COOPRIDE]

s

Mifepristone 200mg #1:

Take 1 tablet by mouth (swallow).
Take this medication first.

Expiration: Apr 2027
Refills: Zero Refills

BN s
'l\:.“ e
" CAUTION: Fdera law ponits ransor of s g o ny pason other o ptert ke whomprescried, |
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Want you to practice some
positive reinforcement. At the
beginning of every hour say
out loud, "l am going to be
good and safe after taking the
M&M's"

MNN/N"7 AN A
Q°()/ A \ /|
e\ / MV

That one sentence will help
you build mental armor that 9:09 AM
will help protect you
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< -

Chris -

No, I'm not saying your reason
is wrong. I'm saying it makes 10:40 PM

Zero sense.

Tell me how having the
pregnancy would help improve 10:40PM
my life?

Once again (let me get my 1040 M
claps ready)...

Zero pros for me; Only cons 10:40 PM

It's Not. \§ About. \\
I

mproving. \§ Your. \§ Life. [JiCZaIZY
\ 1

Having children with my
partner will absolutely improve 10:41PM
my life someday

It's a hand you were dealt, and

this little person did nothing to

harm you, they are not

dangerous, they are not some  JIGZ¥ILY
infectious agent that you have

to stay far away from. That's

what you're acting like.

+ ([ Text Message - RCS \

Pag
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Chris ~

Under no circumstances will

that potential child be born e An

Text Message « SMS

Please come with me bc you
said you would and | have held
up my end of the deal on

EVERYTHING so far. HoeAN

Everything Chris. Please don't
bail on me.

Text Message - RCS

| will come with, but only if you
agree that under NO
circumstances is that potential
child to be born

11:57 AM

If ultrasound says it is
somehow alive. Then it needs 11:57 AM
to be aborted

Text Message - SMS

That was never part of the

deal. You said you would come
N Al L. 41 ~ A PPN SEPS

+ Text Message « RCS \J
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< -

Chris -

If it's confirmed alive, then it

11:59 AM
needs to be aborted
Without fail 11:59 AM
That is best for everyone 11:59 AM
Text Message « SMS
| know your stance on that.
Please tell me you'll come with
me or I'm canceling tr_ns : 190051
altogether bc | made it with the
understanding that you were
coming with me.
Text Message - RCS
What do you plan to do if it's 1201 P

alive

Text Message « SMS

| already told you. Take a beat

to regroup and process. Then [REAENIY
go from there.

That would be a huge surprise. JRFEAILY

+ ( Text Message - RCS \
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< -

Chris -

Yes or no are you coming? If
not I'm calling and canceling.
And they might give that time

. 12:02PM
to someone else, which would
push us to the next week if |
wanted to reschedule.
Text Message - RCS
I'll go 12:03PM

Text Message « SMS

m 12:03PM

Text Message + RCS

But it needs to be aborted and _ |
12:03PM

gone, no matter what

That's why i feel like going in is

almost a waste of time.

Because if it's already dead, 105 P

then you take pills and expel it.
If it's alive, then take pills and
abort it

- + aoa ~a a

+ Text Message « RCS \J
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< -

Chris -

You've told me 1000 times you
are trying to stress me out so 8:50PM
that | lose the baby

It's sick. 8:50 PM

| can't wait to hold that
gorgeous baby though, if it's EHEIUZY
alive.

Text Message « RCS

If that thing ever gets born, it

would be a failure on multiple 8:52PM
levels
and set up for failure since I |

before it's birth

Text Message - SMS

It would be beautiful and loved | RGE—G_—
and looked after.

Since you think it's so cute

when | talk to it...| apologized

to it last night for their dad's 8:55PM
behavior and how upset it

= Text Message « RCS ¢




Case 2:25-cv-00220 Document 1-19  Filed on 08/11/25 in TXSD

10:21 . > @'

< o

Chris

So let's stop and be nice. REEZEIEY

Text Message - RCS

You already know that is NOT
true because i1 only want to
abort this monstrosity of a
situation

12:46 PM

Pagt
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Chris -

| have never called the baby a

mistake. It's a terrible thing to
call a human life.

Text Message - RCS

Cool blame that on me then. It
is 100% a mistake

Text Message « SMS

| don't like that Chris.

Text Message - RCS

| don't like this situation, yet
here i am trapped in it every
day

Text Message « SMS

Babies aren't mistakes. They

shouldn't be called that.

Text Message « RCS

Called it whatever you want. |

-+

Text Message - RCS

1:08 PM

1:08PM

1:10PM

1:10PM

1:11PM

Pag
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< cc,
Chris ~

Text Message - RCS

Realistically?!?!? 2:10PM
Realistically alllll our problems -
could be gone tomorrow!!

It is just that simple 2:10PM

But you are going to do
whatever you wanna do 2:11PM
despite statistics and facts

So go on ahead 2:11PM

Text Message « SMS

I'm not doing anything wrong. PRI

Just waiting to hear how baby

- - - 2:11PM
Is doing in there. |
People are more than statistics | R
and facts.
They are complex creatures | ES—_—_

and have feelings.

I'm not some robot. AP

+ Text Message « RCS )
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And then if | do choose to end

it, it'll be a pleasant surprise. If

| don't, you will have already 1o
prepared yourself.
Maybe even do it while your _
) 10:13PM
dad is there, for moral support.
Absolutely not! 10:14 PM

Ask him if he ever felt afraid _
10:15PM
when your mom was pregnant

Ask him how he felt that time
she got pregnant right as they RISaEILY
were separating.

You act like you are alone in

the world with these feelings,

and you are not. You might 10:15PM
even have people close to you

who have felt them.

You can keep trying hoping I'll
change my mind. But it will 10:16 PM
absolutely not happen

= Text Message - RCS ¢
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< -

Chris -

A pregnancy happened. It
wasn't planned or expected.
Since there's nothing | can do
about it other than abort (and |
don't like the idea of that), I'm
almost at the point where I'm
trying to look at this as a
blessing or a gift.

10:40PM

Because that's what babies

are. Just because I'm not

married to the father and the

pregnancy was accidental, 10:42PM
doesn’t mean that this baby

would be any less of a blessing

or a gift.

They are a beautiful thing. | do

not understand my higher

power's plan for me (haven't

for almost a year now), but if 10:44PM
this is their plan, then I'm

prepared to take on the

responsibility.

This is 100% a fucked up and
messed up situation. You can 10:44PM
spin it any way you want

4 Text Message « RCS ¢
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< -

Chris ~
This is the difference between R
an adult and a child right here.
Do you even go to church? 10:45PM
More name calling 10:45PM ‘

Nope, just facts. You are
swearing at me and saying that
having a baby that you made is
“messed up.”

10:46 PM

Whether | go to church or not

is irrelevant. | can have beliefs

and believe in a higher power

and/or be spiritual. It's one of [RISZIY
the great freedoms of our

country that you signed up to

serve.
Do not insult me. RIEYIY

The fact that you can't see
how bad and messed up this 10:47 PM
is, that's completely delusional

But do whatever you want - 10:47 PM

+ Text Message - RCS ¢
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: -

Chris -

But do whatever you want - 10:47 PM

How is it that bad? | have a
safe and loving home for this
baby to live in. We have
everything they need. | am
capable of raising a baby. |
have support.

10:48PM

They would be loved and

adored and spoiled. This baby

would never be put down!

There is nothing wrong with 10:50PM
thinking of a sweet, beautiful

new baby and choosing to be

positive about it.

Ya whatever lady 10:52 PM

It would be soo gorgeous. As
unhappy as | am about being

pregnant, I'm allowed to look [Ris¥AdY
forward to having another
baby with enjoyment.

I
It doesn’'t make me a bad R
person.

+ Text Message - RCS \
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< -

Chris

Look I'm going to tell you some
hard truths that your hormonal  10:27pm
brain is not going to like

I've already heard plenty of SN
hard truths. |

Don't insult me, please.

. 10:29PM
"Hormonal brain”

WILL mess with your life. It will
take away and mess with your

Choosing to have that thing |
3 current kids. Choosing to

have it WILL mess up it's life. It 1oy
would be bad for you, your

current kids, and that poor

thing

It would be better off not being 001

around

What do you mean it will “take

away” my 3 current kids? 10:30PM
Watch your mouth.

My children aren't going [N
anywhere.

+ ) ( Text Message - RCS \J
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< -

Chris -

You gave me a beautiful gift. |
suppose | should be thanking RISZIIZY
you.

Do things the right way Liana,

and with the right person. You

know deep down inside you, 10:43PM
that this is wrong. This is not a

good thing

I knoyv 'ghat you already know N
that inside of you
Loving this baby feels right. |
want it to stay alive. | want to
snuggle it and sniff its tiny 10:47 PM
head and never ever put it
down. =

Do things the right way. You

know this is Not right 1oaen

Who are we to say this isn't

right? We were given this

incredible gift, and what feels [RiddZY
right is to surround it with all

the love in the world.

=R Text Message « RCS U
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< -

Chris

Everything around you,

everything you touch gets

made worst. Your poor family 9:58PM
got driven apart because of

your psycho mentality

Text Message «- SMS

MEERTES (ol o R aleHg[ 9:58PM

| would like you to stop your
harassment.

9:58PM

Text Message - RCS

If i had to deal with your

craziness every day like your

husband, that would drive me 9:58 PM
mad too. You probably drove

him crazy

Text Message « SMS

| am not the liar, the cheater,
the manipulator, or the failure

: 9:59PM
of a man and human being.

That is you.

+ Text Message - RCS \
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< -

Chris

Drove your husband mad and

. 10:00PM
messed up your own family
Text Message - SMS
Harassment. | am once again
warning you to stop texting 10:00PM

me, please.

Text Message + RCS

Now you live in a dead husk of
the family life you tried to 10:00PM
create but ruined

You can't even take the photos

down of your failed family. So

you have to be reminded of it 10:01PM
every time you walk through a

hallway

Text Message « SMS

Your words mean nothing to
me. | don't need a complete

failure and loser's

: R 10:02PM
commentary. Your gf is trash if

+ Text Message - RCS \
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Chris

Text Message - RCS

Maybe Devin Paul Davis and |
can become friends

Wonder if 1 could help him in
his legal proceedings with his
crazy ex

Text Message « SMS

10:03 PM

10:04 PM
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< -

Chris -

You are the worst person 11:51AM

No I'm not! How is a loving

mother-to-be the worst 11:51 AM
person.

Don't care about me or my

. 11:52 AM
perspective

Or how it's going to affect

11:52 AM
others

| do care Chris! REBYIIY |

Just gonna do what you
already picture happening in 11:53 AM
your head

But it's something that can't

be done halfway. It's not

something we can meet in the REHIELY
middle on. It's one choice or

the other.

| can't halfway have the baby
you know?

| ALWAYS listen to you. [REEELY

+ Text Message - RCS ¢

11:53 AM
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Chris

Was thinking we could hang
out one of these night I'm not

12:15PM
scheduled and catch up on
Reacher
| could make us some warm -
. . 12:16 PM
relaxing tea instead of alcohol
And we could go to bed at a _
12:16 PM
reasonable hour
Called it a "trust building I

night" if you have to.....

Haha | don't drink tea. Never

liked it (hot, iced, or

otherwise). But I'm sure we 12:16PM
could substitute that with

something else

| also finished this season of
Reacher on my own. @ But,

. 12:17 PM
I'd re-watch. Or we can pick
another show or movie.
Wow finished without me 1201

~ s a s

+ Text Message - RCS
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9:26 T
. R )
ol @

Chris -

Sun, Apr 6 at 12:12 AM

CHRIS ANSWER THE . |
PHONE!' 12:22 AM
I'm calling you! [iz¥NY

Do you have my mom? [Ri¥EL

She is waiting outside. It is —_—

You have to turn right into
them and go all the way to the [z
back.

| am gushing blood. Please —Ty
hurry.

I'm trying to find her.. 12:44 AM

Are you OK? 12:44 AM

No! When | didn't hear from

-+ Text Message « RCS
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3:46 .l LTE @l

4 Camera

Receipt_06Apr2025_164107 -~ Done

uber April 8, 2025

Here's your receipt for your ride, | N |EGzNG

Total $13.45

Subtotal $10.43

Payments

n Mas]en:an'ji "-- £13.45

Wisd the irig page for mare information, including invoices (where available)

¥ou rocke with Marty

Comfort 4 11 mbesz |8
I 1258 At | S o= v, <
= do uy @ ol yo il
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9:27 —
- — )
e l v @

< cc,
Chris -

Are you OK? 12:44 AM

No! When | didn't hear from
you, | sent my mom money for

an Uber and she is getting in
an Uber. Please turn around
and come back and get me.

Please.
S[V[gaA8 12:45AM
| am soaking blood. EPZEFNY

Please call me NOW or I'm

12:45 AM

12:46 AM

calling an ambulance.

My mom is in an Uber on her

way here. She no longer needs

aride. As we discussed, now |  [PHFIIY
need you to take me to the

hospital.

Just wherever you are, please
turn around and come to me at
the house. You don’t need to
do anything else. Stop looking
for my mom if that's what
you're doing.

12:53 AM

A
15 Text Message - RCS
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9:28 o~
= L) )
ol l v @

< -

Chris -

Just wherever you are, please
turn around and come to me at
the house. You don't need to
do anything else. Stop looking
for my mom if that's what
you're doing.

12:53 AM

Chris, this is very odd that you
know | am having an
emergency and you are not
reachable and taking a long
time to answer. This is what we
have talked about for the
longest time and how this is
my time of need.

12:54 AM

I'm sorry, i have to go to my

flight tomorrow R

Where did you go? You aren't
home. Did you even go out to  [EEUEAY
find my mom?

| am at the hospital in the ER. [EREZYY

Sun, Apr 6 at 4:42 AM

-+ Text Message - RCS
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